Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 1 of 18

FILED 04-28-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT II**

#### APPEAL NO. 2021 AP 002105-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff – Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL GENE WISKOWSKI,

Defendant – Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

#### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION

## ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SHEBOYGAN COUNTY THE HONORABLE KENT HOFFMANN PRESIDING

BIRDSALL OBEAR & ASSOCIATES Attorney Kirk B. Obear State Bar No.: 1023993 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When the report of a person sleeping in a car while waiting in line at a drive thru is contradicted by the officer's observation of the car driving on the road without any traffic violations, is there reasonable suspicion to stop the car or can police justify the stop based on the community caretaker doctrine?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.

Suggested Answer on Appeal: No.

After the stop, when the driver provides a reasonable explanation, can the officer use the community caretaker doctrine to extend the stop to perform field sobriety tests?

*The Circuit Court answered:* Yes.

Suggested Answer on Appeal: No.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Defendant-Appellant does not request publication as the issues raised in this appeal deal with application of well-settled legal standards to its unique facts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a *Judgment of Conviction* (R. 85; App. 2-3) entered in Sheboygan County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kent Hoffmann, presiding judge.

On September 9, 2019, the State of Wisconsin filed a *Criminal Complaint* which charged the Defendant-Appellant, Michael Gene Wiskowski, with one count of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence – 4<sup>th</sup> Offense with a General Alcohol Concentration, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a) and 346.65(2)(g). (R. 3). On October 25, 2019, an

Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 6 of 18

Amended Criminal Complaint was filed, wherein one count of Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration – 4<sup>th</sup> Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b) was added. (R. 21).

On November 8, 2019, Defendant-Appellant filed a *Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from Unlawful Search* arguing that Defendant-Appellant was stopped without reasonable suspicion and arrested absent probable cause. (R. 23; App.4). An evidentiary motion hearing was held on January 10, 2020. (R. 32; App. 10). On January 31, 2020, the State of Wisconsin filed a *Response Brief to Motion Hearing*. (R. 33; App. 37). On February 7, 2020, Defendant-Appellant filed a *Brief in Support of Motion to Suppress*. (R. 34; App. 41). On February 17, 2020, Judge Hoffmann made an oral ruling wherein he denied Defendant-Appellant's motion to suppress evidence. (R. 46; App. 46). In so holding, the Court found that the community caretaker doctrine applied, and therefore, the stop and subsequent arrest were justified under the law. *Id*.

On February 9, 2021, Defendant-Appellant submitted a letter to the court submitting body camera footage and requested a subsequent motion hearing re-raising the same issues. (R. 61; App. 64). A second evidentiary motion hearing was held on February 18, 2021. (R. 69; App. 66). At the close of the motion hearing, Judge Hoffmann reaffirmed his decision denying Defendant-Appellant's motion to suppress again citing the community caretaker doctrine. *Id*.

On September 1, 2021, Defendant-Appellant entered a plea of 'no contest' to one count of Operating While Intoxicated – 4<sup>th</sup> Offense. (R. 85; App. 2-3). After finding that Defendant-Appellant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered such pleas, Judge Hoffmann adjudicated him guilty. (R. 102). Judge Hoffmann imposed a sentence of 120-days jail, 24-month ignition interlock device, lifetime driver's license revocation, a forfeiture and costs, and an AODA Assessment. *Id.* A *Judgment of Conviction* was entered on September 2,

2021. (R. 85; App. 2-3). A Motion for Stay of Sentence Pursuant to Sec. 809.31 was filed on September 1, 2021. (R. 80). At the plea/sentencing hearing on September 1, 2021, Judge Hoffmann granted Defendant-Appellant's Motion for Stay of Sentence. (R. 102). Judge Hoffmann signed an Order Staying Sentence on September 3, 2021. (R. 89). A timely Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief was filed on September 1, 2021. (R. 81). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on December 7, 2021. (R. 103). A timely Statement on Transcript was filed on December 7, 2021. (R. 104).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Defendant-Appellant filed a motion to suppress evidence on November 8, 2019. (R. 23; App. 4). The motion alleged that there was no reasonable basis for the officer to conduct the traffic stop and that no probable cause existed to arrest Defendant-Appellant. *Id.* As to the relief sought, the motion requested an order suppressing all evidence gathered by the arresting officer after the unlawful administration of the preliminary breath test. *Id.* 

An evidentiary motion hearing was held on January 10, 2020. (R. 32; App. 10). The only witness to testify was Officer Devin Simon. (*Id.* at 2; 11). Officer Simon, employed as a road officer with the City of Plymouth, testified that on September 6, 2019, he was on duty in the City of Plymouth. (*Id.* at 6; 15). At approximately 1:00 p.m., Officer Simon was advised by dispatch that there was an individual in a red Cadillac truck who had fallen asleep in the McDonald's drive thru parking lot. (*Id.* at 6-7; 15-16). Based on that information, Officer Simon travelled to the McDonald's and arrived approximately one minute later. (*Id.*)

Upon arrival, Officer Simon observed the vehicle navigate through the drive thru window toward the exit of the parking lot. (*Id.* at 8; 17). He further observed the vehicle to have made a correct, proper, and legal left turn onto the road

Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 8 of 18

and into the correct lane of travel. (*Id.* at 17-18; 26-27). Officer Simon initiated a traffic stop of the vehicle. (*Id.* at 9; 18). While behind the vehicle, Officer Simon observed no traffic violations. (Id. at 17; 26). According to Officer Simon, the stop was a welfare check based on the complainant reporting somebody fell asleep behind the wheel of a vehicle. (*Id.* at 18; 27). Officer Simon admitted that he had no probable cause to stop the vehicle for any kind of actual traffic violation. (*Id.*). Upon approach of the vehicle, Officer Simon asked the driver for his license and proof of insurance. (Id. at 8; 17). Based off the license provided, the driver was identified as Mr. Wiskowski. (Id.). When told of the complaint of Mr. Wiskowski sleeping, Mr. Wiskowski told Officer Simon that he was a welder and had been awake for approximately the last 24-hours working. (Id. at 24; 33). At no point during this first contact did Officer Simon detect an odor of intoxicants. (Id. at 20; 29).

Upon second contact, Officer Simon ordered Mr. Wiskowski out of his vehicle. (*Id.* at 9;18). Officer Simon noted Mr. Wiskowski had a stumbling walk and was able to smell the odor of intoxicants on his breath. (*Id.*). Upon being asked how much he had to drink, Mr. Wiskowski stated he had a couple of beers a couple of hours ago. (*Id.* at 10; 19). At that point, Officer Simon transported Mr. Wiskowski to the police station. (*Id.*) At the police station, Officer Simon conducted field sobriety tests. (*Id.* at 11; 20).

Following conclusion of the testimony at the January 10, 2020, evidentiary hearing, the circuit court set a briefing schedule. (*Id.* at 25; 34). On January 31, 2020, the State filed a *Response Letter to Motion Hearing*. (R. 33; App. 37). The State argued that the traffic stop and subsequent arrest were justified under the community caretaker doctrine. (*Id.*) Specifically, the State argued that the three-stop test set forth in *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 36, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598, were all present. (*Id.*)

Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 9 of 18

On February 7, 2020, Mr. Wiskowski submitted a brief in support of his motion to suppress. (R. 34; App. 41). Mr. Wiskowski argued that the traffic stop and subsequent arrest were not justified under the community caretaker. (*Id.*) Therefore, all evidence gathered by the arresting officer after the unlawful stop should be suppressed. (*Id.*)

On February 17, 2020, the circuit court issued an oral ruling denying Mr. Wiskowski's motion to suppress. (R. 46; App. 46). In doing so, Judge Hoffmann agreed that the analysis was whether this was a lawfully conducted stop pursuant to the community caretaker doctrine. (*Id.*) Judge Hoffmann concluded that the three-step test set forth in *Kramer* had been met. (*Id.*) For that reason, Judge Hoffmann denied Defendant-Appellant's motion to suppress evidence. (*Id.*)

On February 9, 2021, Defendant-Appellant submitted a letter to the court submitting body camera footage and requested a subsequent motion hearing re-raising the same issues. (R. 61; App. 64). A second evidentiary motion hearing was held on February 18, 2021. (R. 69; App. 66). Again, the only witness to testify was Officer Simon. (*Id.*)

Officer Simon testified that, when driving to the scene, he was unaware of whether the driver had any OWI convictions. (*Id.* at 11; 76). Officer Simon reiterated that when he arrived on scene, he observed the vehicle appropriately navigate the drive thru, pay for and receive his food, safely make a turn, lawfully stop at a stop sign, and properly turn onto the road. (*Id.*). Once the stop was initiated, the vehicle safely turned into a golf course parking lot without any issue. (*Id.*).

At this hearing, the body camera footage of the assisting officer, Officer Cobalt, was received into evidence. (*Id.* at 7; 72). Officer Simon testified that on the day in question, he was looking to Officer Cobalt for guidance. (*Id.* at 12; 77). The recording showed a conversation between the officers wherein they discussed whether Mr. Wiskowski should be removed from his vehicle. (*Id.* at 13; 78). That conversation took

Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 10 of 18

approximately eight minutes. (*Id.*). Officer Simon testified that he did not smell alcohol and did not see alcohol. (*Id.*). At some point during that conversation, the officers pulled up Mr. Wiskowski's past driving record and discovered he had prior OWI convictions. (*Id.* at 13-14; 78-79).

Officer Simon admitted that he was not sure whether he had authority pursuant to the community caretaker doctrine to remove Mr. Wiskowski from his vehicle. (*Id.* at 14;79). Officer Simon further admitted that he did not have reasonable suspicion that Mr. Wiskowski was driving while impaired other than Mr. Wiskowski at first handing him the wrong insurance card and the report of him sleeping in the drive thru. (*Id.* at 15; 80). Up until Mr. Wiskowski was pulled out of the vehicle, neither officer detected any odor of alcohol, slurred speech, or any unusual behavior other than Mr. Wiskowski at first handing the wrong insurance card to Officer Simon. (*Id.* at 16; 81). Importantly, Officer Simon testified that Mr. Wiskowski did not appear to be sleeping and did not appear to be dozing off in any manner. (*Id.*).

At the close of testimony and after hearing argument, the circuit court denied Defendant-Appellant's motion for reconsideration. (*Id.* at 36; 101). In doing so, Judge Hoffmann again concluded that the three-step test set forth in *Kramer* had been met. (*Id.*)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of issues that concern whether a search or seizure is reasonable is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 8, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. Courts apply a two-step standard of review to questions of constitutional fact as they are mixed questions of law and fact. *Id.* This Court reviews the "circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard" and "independently [reviews] the application of those facts to constitutional principles." *Ibid.* 

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was no reasonable suspicion that a crime was being committed when the information about a sleeping person in a car in a drive thru was never observed by police and police did not observe any traffic violations or evidence of any criminal offense before initiating the traffic stop. With no observation of a person needing assistance, along with the absence of irregular driving or any indicia of a safety issue, the traffic stop was not justified by the community caretaker doctrine. The initial interaction between Mr. Wiskowski and the officer confirmed that Mr. Wiskowski was not in any danger.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. There was no reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop because the officer could not confirm that Mr. Wiskowski had been sleeping, and the officer did not observe any behavior that would lead to a reasonable belief that a crime had occurred, was in progress, or would be committed.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution protect an individual's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 292 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. To execute a valid investigative stop, an officer must have reasonable suspicion to believe that a crime has been, is being, or will be committed. Id. at ¶ 20. Reasonable suspicion requires more than a mere hunch. Id. at ¶ 21. An officer must possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot. Id.

In this case, reasonable suspicion did not exist as there were no specific and articulable facts that a crime had been,

was being, or would be committed by Mr. Wiskowski. An officer does not have reasonable suspicion to stop any driver simply because someone said the driver had been sleeping while waiting in a drive thru especially when that officer never witnessed the driver sleeping and the car was operating in a perfectly safe manner. More is required.

Reasonable suspicion may exist where an officer was aware of prior OWIs and there are additional facts that give rise to reasonable suspicion. But in Mr. Wiskowski's case, there were no traffic violations, Mr. Wiskowski was driving appropriately, his car had no equipment violations, there was no assertion that he was not wearing a seatbelt or didn't have his headlights on. (R. 69 at 16; App. 81). There was no evidence of impaired driving. (*Id.*) To the contrary, there was evidence of unimpaired driving. Mr. Wiskowski drove safely on the road, executed a safe turn into the parking lot and drove carefully through the parking lot. (*Id.* at 11; App. 76). The facts simply do not support a finding of reasonable suspicion because there was no objectively reasonable evidence of wrongful conduct.

II. The officer was not acting in a community caretaking function when, instead of finding Mr. Wiskowski asleep in his car in the middle of the drive thru, he watched him drive his car on the road and turn into a parking lot without any traffic violations or any indication that he was in distress.

### A. Community Caretaker Test

An investigative stop that is not supported by reasonable suspicion may nonetheless be justified as an exercise of the officer's duties as a community caretaker. *State v. Maddix*, 2013 WI App 64, ¶ 14, 348 Wis. 2d 179, 831 N.W.2d 778. The community caretaker function describes actions by police that are "totally divorced from the detection,

Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 13 of 18

investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to violation of a criminal statute." *Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973).

Determining whether law enforcement officers are acting in a community caretaker role is an objective analysis: whether the officer has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function. *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 36, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. Wisconsin case law has set out a multistep test for the validity of a community-caretaker seizure: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual. *State v. Maddix*, 2013 WI App 64, ¶ 14. The state has the burden of proving the officer's conduct falls within the scope of the community caretaker function. *Kramer* at ¶ 21.

# B. Mr. Wiskowski was seized when Officer Simon initiated the traffic stop.

A police-citizen encounter becomes a seizure when the law enforcement officer "by means of physical force or show of authority" in some way restrains the liberty of the citizen. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980). A seizure generally occurs when "in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 3. An investigative stop is a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d 243, 258-59, 557 N.W.2d 245, (1996).

The parties and the circuit court appeared to agree that a seizure took place. The state did not argue against seizure. The circuit court's ruling clearly implied that Officer Simon seized Mr. Wiskowski in the golf course parking lot. This Case 2021AP002105 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-28-2022 Page 14 of 18

conclusion makes sense based on the facts elicited at the suppression hearings. Mr. Simon's squad pulled behind Mr. Wiskowski in the parking lot. Officer Simon approached Mr. Wiskowski and questioned him while he sat in his car. A reasonable person in this situation would not have felt free to leave. This was a seizure. (R. 32, 69; App. 10, 66).

C. Officer Simon's conduct was not bona fide community caretaker activity because police were unable to verify that Mr. Wiskowski ever needed assistance. Instead, Officer Simon only saw Mr. Wiskowski safely operate his vehicle on the road and in the parking lot.

To prove that officers acted as bona fide community caretakers, the state bears the burden of showing an objectively reasonable basis to believe there was a member of the public who needed assistance. *Maddix*, 348 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 20. During the analysis of this step in the *Kramer* test, the court considers whether police conduct is "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to violation of a criminal statute." *Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. at 441.

In this case, Officer Simon was dispatched to a McDonald's to address a person sleeping in his car in the drive thru. Had he found a person in that situation, it would have been reasonable to believe the person may need assistance and the community caretaker function arguably would be in play. But Officer Simon did not find a person sleeping in the drive thru. To the contrary, Officer Simon found the car driving safely on the road and observed the car safely execute a turn into a parking lot. (R. 32, 69; App. 10, 66). Just because dispatch may have triggered a community caretaker function does not mean that the community caretaker function continued after the initial safety concern dissipated.

The concept of dissipation is illustrated in *State v. Ultsch*, 2011 WI App 17,  $\P$  2, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d

505. In *Ultsch*, officers were dispatched to a scene where a car had smashed into a brick building. The damage was extensive; the brick wall had partially caved in, and the building owners were concerned about the structural integrity of the building. The car had left the scene of the accident, but police found it two to three miles away parked at the end of the driveway and entered the unlocked home.

On appeal, this court rejected the community caretaker justification that the officers were motivated by concern for the driver's well-being when they entered the home. Noting that damage to the car was not extensive and no one at the scene had provided information indicating that the driver was in a vulnerable situation or injured, the officers had no reason to believe that Ultsch needed assistance. *Id.* at ¶¶ 19-21.

While home entry is more scrutinized than the seizure in Mr. Wiskowski's case, the reasoning in *Ultsch* is useful. Once the deputies discovered that Mr. Wiskowski was awake and driving safely, there was no longer an objectively reasonable basis to believe that Mr. Wiskowski, like Ultsch, required assistance. (R. 32, 69; App. 10, 66). After the deputies saw Mr. Wiskowski awake and safely driving, this case pivoted from a community caretaker action into a criminal investigation. Officer Simon's conduct was no longer "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to violation of a criminal statute." *Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. at 441.

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