FILED 11-08-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN**

SUPREME COURT

Filed 11-08-2023

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP2105 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL GENE WISKOWSKI,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KENT R. HOFFMANN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL J. CONWAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1134356

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Reasonable suspicion supported the traffic stop.

Wiskowski argues that Officer Simon lacked reasonable suspicion to pull him over. (Wiskowski's Br. 12–13.)³ Neither the circuit court nor the court of appeals addressed the issue in denying Wiskowski's motion to suppress. The State did not brief the issue at the court of appeals.

Nevertheless, the order denying Wiskowski's motion to suppress can be affirmed on that basis. The issue is properly before this Court because Wiskowski raised it below and in his petition for review. (Wiskowski's Pet. 1); see Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(6). Moreover, as the Respondent, the State is free to "defend the court of appeals' ultimate result or outcome based on any ground, whether or not that ground was ruled upon by the lower courts, as long as the supreme court's acceptance of that ground would not change the result or outcome below." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(3m)(b); see State v. Delap, 2018 WI 64, ¶ 5 & n.2, 382 Wis. 2d 92, 913 N.W.2d 175. Here, this Court can determine from the record that Officer Simon had reasonable suspicion to stop Wiskowski and affirm the denial of Wiskowski's motion to suppress on that basis.

³ For citations to Wiskowski's brief and petition for review, the State cites to the electronic page number found at the top, and not to the page listed at the bottom.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protects against "unreasonable searches and seizures." *Post*, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 10. A police officer may initiate an investigatory or *Terry*⁴ stop based on "reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed." *State v. Genous*, 2021 WI 50, ¶ 7, 397 Wis. 2d 293, 961 N.W.2d 41 (citation omitted). Accordingly, an officer may stop a driver "based on reasonable suspicion that a person is driving while intoxicated." *Post*, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 15.

Reasonable suspicion presents a "low bar." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8. The standard "falls considerably short' of 51% accuracy." Kansas v. Glover, 140 S. Ct. 1183, 1188 (2020) (quoting *United States v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002)). Reasonable suspicion exists if there are "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts," would lead a reasonable officer to believe that unlawful activity might be afoot. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 10 (citation omitted). "The question is, 'What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience?" Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8 (citation omitted). This question focuses on the objective perception of a reasonable police officer and "is by no means dependent upon the subjective belief of the officer." In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 60, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675. "[O]fficers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8 (citation omitted).

The reasonable suspicion inquiry is also highly fact specific, turning on the totality of the circumstances. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 13, 26. "[B]oth the content of [the] information possessed by police and its degree of reliability. . . . are

⁴ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

Filed 11-08-2023

considered in the 'totality of the circumstances." State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 22, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (quoting Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 330 (1990)). "The totality-of-the-circumstances approach views the quantity and the quality of the information as inversely proportional to each other." Id. A limited amount of information may still establish reasonable suspicion if the information is highly reliable. *Id*.

"In some circumstances, information contained in an informant's tip may justify an investigative stop." State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 17, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. In conducting the reasonable suspicion inquiry, courts should consider "(1) the informant's veracity; and (2) the informant's basis of knowledge." *Id.* ¶ 18. However, these two factors are merely part of the totality of the circumstances, not "discrete elements of a more rigid test." *Id.* Several other factors bear on an informant's reliability. "[P]olice corroboration of innocent, although significant, details of an informant's tip lend reliability to the informant's allegations of criminal activity." State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 27, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463. An informant similarly increases his or her reliability by sharing self-identifying information or purporting to be an eyewitness. Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶¶ 33–36. In addition, "exigency can in some circumstances supplement the reliability of an informant's tip in order to form the basis for an investigative stop." Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 26.

In this case, it is undisputed that Officer Simon seized Wiskowski and that he did not observe Wiskowski commit a traffic violation. (R. 32:18.) He stopped Wiskowski because a McDonald's employee reported that Wiskowski had fallen asleep at the wheel while in the drive-through lane. (R. 32:8.) This report provided Officer Simon reasonable suspicion that Wiskowski was operating his vehicle while intoxicated to

justify the traffic stop. Two cases—one from this Court and one from the U.S. Supreme Court—compel this conclusion.

In *Rutzinski*, this Court determined that an informant's report of erratic driving by a black pickup truck established reasonable suspicion of driving while intoxicated. Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶¶ 1–4, 38. Two factors supported the Court's conclusion that the informant's tip supported a traffic stop, even though the police did not personally observe any suspicious driving and the informant did not provide his or her name. Id. ¶¶ 7, 38.

First, this Court determined that the informant was reliable even without providing a name because he or she still provided self-identifying information. The explained that he or she knew of the defendant's erratic driving because he or she occupied the car directly in front of the defendant's truck. Id. ¶¶ 6, 32. The officers could, thus, infer the informant's identity if they wanted—such as if the tip turned out to be false. Id. ¶ 32. Because the informant risked identification—and, thus, criminal consequences for conveying false information—the police could reasonably rely on the informant's report. Id.; see also Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶ 34 (determining that anonymous informant provided self-identifying information by sharing her home address).

Second, the informant's reliability was enhanced because she was an eyewitness to the erratic driving. She provided "personal observations of [the defendant's contemporaneous actions" that included marking the time that the defendant passed certain landmarks. Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 33. Based on those reports, the police were able to accurately intercept the black pickup truck further down the road. Id. "[O]nly a person contemporaneously observing the vehicle or possessing 'inside information' . . . would have been able to indicate where the vehicle was located and the setting surrounding the vehicle at the given time." Id. The officers could reasonably rely on the informant's report

Filed 11-08-2023

because it clearly came from an eyewitness. Id.; see also Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶ 47 (endorsing reliability of anonymous tip, in part, because it was a "contemporaneous eyewitness account accompanied by details promptly verified by the police").

Since the informant was reliable, the only issue that remained was whether a report of "erratic driving" established reasonable suspicion. Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶¶ 7, 34. This Court had no difficulty accepting that it did because "[e]rratic driving is one possible sign of intoxicated use of a motor vehicle." *Id.* ¶ 34. Moreover, the danger posed by an intoxicated driver created an exigency that "further justified" a stop. Id. ¶ 35. Accordingly, the unnamed informant's report of erratic driving established reasonable suspicion. Id. ¶ 38.

Thirteen years after *Rutzinski*, the U.S. Supreme Court reached the same conclusion in similar circumstances based on the same considerations in Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393 (2014). The police officers in *Navarette* responded to an anonymous 9-1-1 caller, who reported the license plate of a pickup truck that had run her off the road at a particular mile marker of a state highway. Navarette, 572 U.S. at 395. The officers found the truck further down the highway 13 minutes after receiving the dispatch. Id. The officers followed the truck for five minutes, during which time the pickup truck complied with all traffic laws. Id. at 395, 403. The officers stopped the car anyway. Id. at 395. It turned out that the driver was not intoxicated, but the truck contained 30 pounds of marijuana. *Id*.

The Supreme Court held that the anonymous 9-1-1 call established reasonable suspicion of driving while intoxicated. Id. Even though the 9-1-1 caller was anonymous and offered no self-identifying information, the Court found her reliable because she provided an eyewitness account by identifying a particular truck with a particular license plate, because she

Filed 11-08-2023

utilized the 9-1-1 emergency system that can trace its callers, and because the police were able to intercept the pickup truck further down the highway based on her "contemporaneous report." Id. at 398–400. The report established reasonable suspicion because "running another car off the highway.... bears too great a resemblance to paradigmatic manifestations of drunk driving to be dismissed as an isolated example of recklessness." Id. at 403. "[T]he absence of additional suspicious conduct" after police officers began following the truck did not "dispel the reasonable suspicion of drunk driving." Id. Officers were not obligated to give "a drunk driver a second chance for dangerous conduct." Id. at 404.

Rutzinski and Navarette illustrate that the circumstances in the present case provided an objectively reasonable basis for suspecting that Wiskowski was driving while intoxicated.

First, the McDonald's employee was not anonymous: she actually provided her name. Officer Simon knew that he was responding to a "named complainant wanting to make a statement" and that she worked at the McDonald's. (R. 24:4; 32:7: 69:10.) She was therefore more reliable than the unnamed, but sufficiently reliable, informants in Rutzinski and Navarette. Further, like the informant in Navarette, she called 9-1-1, providing the police another means to find her if desired. (R. 32:7.) See Navarette, 572 U.S. at 400. The employee's willingness to share her identity made it reasonable for Officer Simon to trust the report since he "could reasonably have concluded that the informant knew that [she] potentially could be arrested if the tip proved to be fabricated." Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 32.

Second, not only did the McDonald's employee identify herself, but she also established her base of knowledge as an eyewitness that included facts verified by Officer Simon. She told police that, in her capacity as a McDonald's employee, she personally awoke Wiskowski in the drive-through lane by

Filed 11-08-2023

knocking on the window of his red Cadillac truck. (R. 24:4; 32:7; 69:10.) One minute after being dispatched, Officer Simon verified her report by observing a red Cadillac truck departing the drive-through lane. (R. 32:8.) Thus, Officer Simon, like the officers in *Rutzinski* and *Navarette*, confirmed that the informant was an eyewitness based on details he could personally confirm.

This reliable report from the McDonald's employee had sufficient information to establish reasonable suspicion. Spontaneously falling asleep is an unmistakable sign of significant intoxication. See State v. Giese, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 4, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687 (observing that intoxicated defendant had crashed his vehicle, started walking home, and then fallen asleep in the road). Moreover, falling asleep at the wheel of a running vehicle is a "paradigmatic manifestatio[n] of drunk driving." Navarette, 572 U.S. at 403; see State v. Wortman, 2017 WI App 61, ¶ 2, 378 Wis. 2d 105, 902 N.W.2d 561 (recounting how the intoxicated defendant fell asleep while driving and crashed his truck into a ditch). The fact that Wiskowski fell asleep at the wheel at 1:00 p.m. increased the likelihood that alcohol, rather than ordinary drowsiness, caused him to fall asleep.

The exigency created by the threat of a drunk driver "further justified" an investigatory stop. Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 35. Indeed, the midday time increased the already considerable risk posed by an intoxicated driver. Many more people are driving at 1:00 p.m. on a Friday than in the wee morning hours when taverns close.

In sum, a self-identified informant's eyewitness report that she personally awoke a man at the wheel of a red Cadillac truck in the drive-through lane at 1:00 p.m., combined with Officer Simon's observation of a red Cadillac truck departing the drive-through lane one minute after being dispatched, provided reasonable suspicion that Wiskowski was driving while intoxicated.

Filed 11-08-2023

Wiskowski's argument to the contrary depends entirely on the fact that Officer Simon did not personally observe him violate traffic laws or drive unsafely. (Wiskowski's Br. 12–13.) Rutzinksi and Navarette show that this argument is unavailing. Informants can establish reasonable suspicion. Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 17. "[T]he Fourth Amendment and Article I, § 11 do not require the police to idly stand by in hopes that their observations reveal suspicious behavior before the imminent threat comes to its fruition." Id. ¶ 26. Navarette deemed five minutes of lawful driving insufficient to dispel reasonable suspicion, *Navarette*, 572 U.S. at 403–04, and declined to require police officers to give suspected drunk drivers "a second chance for dangerous conduct," id. at 404. Here, a single successful left turn did not dispel the reasonable suspicion established by informant's report.

Although Wiskowski challenged only the legality of the stop below, he also briefly argues that, to the extent the stop was lawful, it was no longer lawful after he answered Officer Simon's initial questions and before Officer Simon ordered him to exit his car. (Wiskowski's Br. 16.) To the extent he advances such an argument now, the presence of reasonable suspicion conclusively defeats it. It is well established that an officer can order a car's driver out of the car during a valid traffic stop. See Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 111 (1977) (per curiam); State v. Brown, 2020 WI 63, ¶ 20, 392 Wis. 2d 454, 945 N.W.2d 584. Because Officer Simon lawfully stopped Wiskowski based on reasonable suspicion of driving while intoxicated, he was free to order Wiskowski out of the car.

Because the stop was lawfully supported by reasonable suspicion, the circuit court properly denied Wiskowski's motion to suppress the evidence that followed it.

Filed 11-08-2023

II. The traffic stop was valid pursuant to the community caretaker doctrine.

The circuit court and court of appeals properly determined that Officer Simon's stop of Wiskowski did not run afoul of the Fourth Amendment or Article I, § 11 because it fell within the ambit of the community caretaker doctrine. A police officer may lawfully perform a seizure without a warrant, probable cause, or reasonable suspicion if the seizure is predicated on the community caretaker doctrine. State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

A court determines whether an officer reasonably performed a search or seizure in his community caretaker role by balancing the public interest furthered by the police conduct against the degree and nature of the intrusion upon the citizen's privacy. State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 40, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. For the community caretaker doctrine to apply, the trial court must conclude that (1) a seizure under the Fourth Amendment occurred; (2) the police engaged in "bona fide community caretaker activity"; and (3) "the public need and interest outweigh[ed] the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual." Id. ¶ 21 (quoting State v. Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987)).

It is undisputed that Officer Simon seized Wiskowski when he stopped him. The parties dispute only elements two and three. The circuit court correctly determined that Officer Simon was a "bona fide" community caretaker and that the public interest outweighed the intrusion upon Wiskowski's privacy.

A. The officer was engaged in bona fide community caretaker activity when he stopped Wiskowski's truck.

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